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INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiffs brought this case against the President of the United States and the Executive 

Office of the President, alleging that Defendants had failed to comply with the Presidential Records 

Act (“PRA”).  See generally ECF No. 1 (“Compl.”).  On March 20, 2018, the Court granted 

Defendants’ motion to dismiss, holding that Plaintiffs had “failed to state a valid mandamus claim 

because the actions they seek to compel — like the issuance of guidelines prohibiting the use of 

the challenged messaging apps — are too discretionary in nature to satisfy the stringent 

requirements for mandamus relief.”  ECF No. 21 (“MTD Mem. Op.”) at 2; see also ECF No. 20 

(“MTD Order”).   

Plaintiffs have now filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment under Rule 59(e) that 

reflects a fundamental misunderstanding of the Federal Rules, the history of this case, and the PRA 

itself.  See ECF No. 22 (“Pls’ Rule 59 Mot.”).  The motion misunderstands the Federal Rules 

because the only document that Plaintiffs seek to alter or amend — the Court’s memorandum 

opinion — is not a judgment.  Plaintiffs might have preferred that the Court’s opinion address 

certain arguments in even more detail than it already did, but that is not a valid basis for Rule 59 

relief. 

Plaintiffs’ motion also ignores the history of this case.  Plaintiffs repeatedly informed the 

Court that they only wanted a writ of mandamus compelling Defendants to issue preservation 

guidelines under the PRA.  See ECF No. 14 (“Pls’ MTD Opp.”) at 35-36 (“The writ of mandamus 

sought by Plaintiffs would simply require Defendants to perform their ministerial duty to issue 

classification guidelines that are consistent with the PRA.”); id. at 39 (“Plaintiffs’ claim for 

mandamus relief [would] simply require the president to issue and maintain guidelines that are 

consistent with the congressional mandate reflected in the PRA . . . .”).  Plaintiffs cannot seriously 
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contend that the Court clearly erred in understanding Plaintiffs’ mandamus claim exactly as they 

described it to the Court.  

In any event, Plaintiffs’ newly formulated mandamus claims would fail even if the Court 

were writing on a blank slate.  Plaintiffs now contend that they are entitled to a writ of mandamus 

compelling Defendants to categorize records before deleting them, but the Court appropriately 

held that 44 U.S.C. § 2203(b) “says nothing about who must classify these records or how she must 

go about doing so.”  MTD Mem. Op. at 14.  Plaintiffs also now seek a writ of mandamus 

compelling Defendants to comply with the notice provisions imposed by 44 U.S.C. § 2203(c) 

before deleting Presidential records, but Plaintiffs’ complaint did not allege that the Defendants 

sued here — the President and the Executive Office of the President — have violated this 

provision, nor do they make clear what ministerial act they want the Court to order Defendants to 

take. 

Finally, were the Court to reject all of these arguments, the Court would need to resolve 

whether mandamus claims seeking to privately enforce the PRA are precluded under the D.C. 

Circuit’s decision in Armstrong I.  See Armstrong v. Bush, 924 F.2d 282 (D.C. Cir. 1991).  As 

explained more fully below, Armstrong I’s holding barring judicial review should be understood 

to extend to mandamus claims.  Any other holding would open a cavernous hole in the Armstrong 

I holding, “upset[ting] the intricate statutory scheme Congress carefully drafted to keep in 

equipoise important competing political and constitutional concerns” by “allow[ing] courts, at the 

behest of private citizens, to rule on the adequacy of the President’s records management practices 

or overrule his records creation, management, and disposal decisions.”  Id. at 290. 

BACKGROUND 

Plaintiffs commenced this action by filing a complaint on October 6, 2017.  See generally 

Compl.  Plaintiffs’ complaint included three relevant claims for relief:  Claim One sought a 
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declaratory judgment that “knowing use by Defendants of messaging apps that prevent the 

preservation of presidential records violates the Presidential Records Act,” Compl. Claim One 

(capitalization modified); Claim Two sought a declaratory judgment “that the failure of the 

President, his staff, and the EOP to issue guidelines concerning the use of messaging apps that 

prevent document preservation violates the Presidential Records Act,” id. Claim Two 

(capitalization modified); and Claim Three sought a writ of mandamus and an injunction 

“compelling President Trump, his staff, and the EO[P] to comply with their non-discretionary 

duties under the PRA,” id. Claim Three (capitalization modified).1 

Defendants moved to dismiss.  See generally ECF No. 11 (“Defs’ MTD”).  Defendants 

contended that (1) pursuant to the D.C. Circuit’s decision in Armstrong I, the PRA precluded 

judicial review, see id. at 11-20, and (2) in any case, Plaintiffs had not satisfied the standards for 

mandamus relief, see id. at 21-29.  In their opposition, Plaintiffs repeatedly informed the Court 

that they were only seeking a writ of mandamus compelling Defendants to issue preservation 

guidelines that complied with the PRA.  See Pls’ MTD Opp. at 35-36 (“The writ of mandamus 

sought by Plaintiffs would simply require Defendants to perform their ministerial duty to issue 

classification guidelines that are consistent with the PRA.”); id. at 39 (“Plaintiffs’ claim for 

mandamus relief [would] simply require the president to issue and maintain guidelines that are 

consistent with the congressional mandate reflected in the PRA . . . .”).   

On March 20, 2018, the Court granted Defendants’ motion to dismiss.  See MTD Order; 

MTD Mem. Op.  Relying on Plaintiffs’ own statements to the Court, the Court indicated that it 

understood Plaintiffs’ mandamus claim to challenge Defendants’ asserted failure to issue 

                                                 
1 Claim Four, which is not at issue here, challenged the President’s authority to issue executive 

orders. 
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classification guidelines.  See MTD Mem. Op. at 13 (“CREW contends that it has identified a clear 

and compelling duty here: the duty to issue (effective) record classification guidelines.” (citing 

Pls’ MTD Opp. at 35-36)).  Addressing 44 U.S.C. § 2203(a) and (b), the Court held that “neither 

of these two provisions obligates the President to perform any duty with the requisite level of 

specificity that mandamus requires.”  Mem. Op. at 14.  In other words, “neither provision 

references classification guidelines in particular, let alone commands their creation.”  Id.  As the 

Court explained, “when courts have found that a statute creates a clear and compelling duty, the 

statute has ordinarily described the precise action the officer must undertake.”  Id.  “Because 

CREW has not identified a ministerial duty, it has failed to state a valid mandamus claim.”  Id. at 

16.  The Court did not reach Defendants’ Armstrong I argument, “finding that dismissal is proper 

regardless because CREW fails to state a valid mandamus claim.”  Id. at 8.   

On April 17, 2018, Plaintiffs filed their Rule 59(e) motion.  See Pls’ Rule 59 Mot.  Plaintiffs 

assert that the Court’s Memorandum Opinion did not adequately address two arguments.  First, 

Plaintiffs contend that “the Court committed clear error in failing to consider Plaintiffs separate 

claim that Defendants’ knowing use of certain message applications that prevent them from 

fulfilling their ministerial duty to categorize the records they create as either presidential or 

personal violates the PRA and is redressable through declaratory and mandamus relief.”  Pls’ Rule 

59 Mot. at 4 (emphasis omitted).  Second, Plaintiffs contend that the Court “erred by failing to 

address Plaintiffs’ allegation that Defendants’ failure to provide certain statutorily compelled 

notifications prior to destroying presidential records provided the basis for a valid mandamus 

Case 1:17-cv-01228-CRC   Document 24   Filed 05/15/18   Page 8 of 20



5 
 

claim.”  Id. at 7.  Plaintiffs request that the Court “reconsider its Opinion to address these claims.”  

Id. at ii.2 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

“A Rule 59(e) motion is discretionary and need not be granted unless the district court finds 

that there is an intervening change of controlling law, the availability of new evidence, or the need 

to correct a clear error or prevent manifest injustice.”  Firestone v. Firestone, 76 F.3d 1205, 1208 

(D.C. Cir. 1996) (internal quotation marks omitted).  A “Rule 59(e) motion is not a second 

opportunity to present argument upon which the Court has already ruled, nor is it a means to bring 

before the Court theories or arguments that could have been advanced earlier.”  W.C. & A.N. Miller 

Co. v. United States, 173 F.R.D. 1, 2 (D.D.C. 1997), aff’d sub nom. Hicks v. United States, No. 

99-5010, 1999 WL 414253 (D.C. Cir. May 17, 1999). 

Mandamus jurisdiction “is strictly confined. . . . Mandamus is ‘drastic’; it is available only 

in ‘extraordinary situations’; it is hardly ever granted; those invoking the court’s mandamus 

jurisdiction must have a ‘clear and indisputable’ right to relief.”  In re Cheney, 406 F.3d 723, 729 

(D.C. Cir. 2005) (en banc).  The duty “to be performed by the agency must be ‘ministerial and the 

obligation to act peremptory, and clearly defined.  The law must not only authorize the demanded 

action, but require it; the duty must be clear and indisputable.”  PDK Labs Inc. v. Reno, 134 F. 

Supp. 2d 24, 34 (D.D.C. 2001).  A ministerial duty “is one that admits of no discretion, so that the 

official in question has no authority to determine whether to perform the duty.”  Swan v. Clinton, 

100 F.3d 973, 977 (D.C. Cir. 1996).  “[E]ven if the plaintiff overcomes all these hurdles, whether 

mandamus relief should issue is discretionary.” Cheney, 406 F.3d at 729. 

                                                 
2 Both Plaintiffs’ Rule 59 motion and their memorandum in support, which comprise one PDF 

file, are numbered in Arabic numerals.  For clarity, Defendants will refer to the cover motion using 
romanette numerals. 
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ARGUMENT 

I. The Court Should Deny Plaintiffs’ Motion Because It Seeks Alteration Or 
Amendment Of The Court’s Opinion, Not Its Judgment. 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 59(e) permits a party to file a “motion to alter or amend a 

judgment.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 59(e).  Under the Federal Rules, a “judgment” is “a decree and any 

order from which an appeal lies.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 54(a).  The judgment entered by this Court was 

its order of March 20, 2018, which granted Defendants’ motion to dismiss and indicated that it 

was a “final appealable order.”  MTD Order.3  The Court’s Memorandum Opinion, in contrast, 

provided the Court’s explanation for the judgment that it entered.  See, e.g., Wright & Miller, 

Federal Practice & Procedure § 2651 (“The decision consists of the court’s findings of fact and 

conclusions of law; the rendition of judgment is the pronouncement of that decision and the act 

that gives it legal effect.” (footnotes omitted)). 

Plaintiffs’ motion is procedurally deficient because it does not seek to alter or amend the 

Court’s judgment.  Indeed, Plaintiffs never actually ask the Court to change the result that it 

reached; all they want is a new opinion.  See, e.g., Pls’ Rule 59 Mot. at i (“Plaintiffs . . . respectfully 

request that this Court reconsider its March 20, 2008 Opinion (Dkt. No. 21) setting forth the 

Court’s reasoning for its Order of the same date . . . .”); id. at ii (asking the Court to “reconsider 

its Opinion to address these claims”); id. at 6 (asserted error is “Court’s failure to address” certain 

of Plaintiffs’ claims); id. at 10 (“The Court should remedy this error by properly addressing the 

argument . . . .”).  The relief that Plaintiffs would have the Court enter is an order providing that 

                                                 
3 The Court’s order constituted a judgment notwithstanding the fact that it was not captioned 

as such.  See Wright & Miller, supra, § 2652 (“The simplicity of form and content envisioned by 
the federal rules indicates that the document probably need not be labelled ‘Judgment’ or ‘Final 
Decree.’”). 
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“[a]n amended memorandum opinion and order will issue in due course.”  Pls’ Proposed Order 

(ECF No. 22-1).4 

Because Plaintiffs are not asking the Court to alter or amend a judgment, their motion does 

not seek relief under Rule 59.  But even assuming that Rule 59 applied in this context, Plaintiffs 

would need to demonstrate that the Court’s asserted failure to address in detail certain arguments 

in its opinion itself constituted clear error.  Plaintiffs offer no authority suggesting that a Court 

may clearly err merely by addressing arguments in an opinion in insufficient detail, and Defendants 

are aware of none.5  

Indeed, it is unsurprising that there would not be a legal standard governing how much 

detail a district court must include when writing a memorandum opinion addressing pure issues of 

law.  Should Plaintiffs appeal from the Court’s judgment dismissing this case, the D.C. Circuit 

will review the Court’s judgment — the Court’s opinion will be useful to the Court of Appeals, 

but will not itself be the subject of review.  See, e.g., People’s Mojahedin Org. of Iran v. U.S. 

Dep’t of State, 182 F.3d 17, 23 n.7 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (“In cases on appeal from the district court, 

we are to review ‘judgments, not opinions.’”).6  Moreover, the “judgment entered by the district 

court is not dependent upon the grounds to which it is assigned,” Harvey v. Dist. Of Col., 798 F.3d 

                                                 
4 Plaintiffs’ failure to seek actual amendment of the judgment is more than a mere technicality.  

The time for Plaintiffs to seek Rule 59(e) relief has now expired, and pursuant to Federal Rule 
6(b)(2), the Court cannot extend Plaintiffs’ time to seek relief under Rule 59(e).  See, e.g., Trupei 
v. United States, 274 F.R.D. 38, 39 (D.D.C. 2011).  Having failed ask the Court to actually amend 
its judgment, Plaintiffs cannot do so now. 

5 To be sure, where a court ignores meritorious arguments and enters judgment against a party, 
that judgment may represent clear error.  In such a circumstance, however, the error is the entry of 
judgment, not the opinion itself.  

6 As the D.C. Circuit has observed, its role reviewing district court judgments differs from its 
role reviewing the actions of federal agencies under the Administrative Procedure Act.  See 
People’s Mojahedin, 182 F.3d at 23 n.7 (“Orders issued by agencies are treated differently.  In 
administrative law, we do not sustain a ‘right-result, wrong-reason’ decision of an agency.  We 
send the case back to the agency so that it may fix its reasoning or change its result.”).   
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1042, 1056 (D.C. Cir. 2015).  Whether the Court’s opinion were one page long or one thousand 

pages long, the only question for the D.C. Circuit would be whether or not to affirm the judgment.  

A district court cannot clearly err for purposes of Rule 59(e) by writing an insufficiently detailed 

memorandum opinion where the moving party does not challenge the actual judgment. 

II. Plaintiffs Waived Their New Mandamus Arguments By Repeatedly Making Clear 
That They Only Sought Mandamus On Their Guidelines Claim. 

Even if Plaintiffs were actually seeking a different result, their motion would be properly 

denied because Plaintiffs are now attempting to assert mandamus claims that they did not advance 

or abandoned prior to the entry of judgment.  As noted above, Rule 59(e) “may not be used to . . . 

raise arguments or present evidence that could have been raised prior to the entry of judgment.”  

Slate v. Am. Broad. Cos., 12 F. Supp. 3d 30, 34 (D.D.C. 2013) (quoting Exxon Shipping Co. v. 

Baker, 554 U.S. 471, 485 n.5 (2008)); see also, e.g., Lightfoot v. Dist. of Col., 355 F. Supp. 2d 

414, 421 (D.D.C. 2005).  Plaintiffs’ briefing made abundantly clear that they were not advancing 

the mandamus claim that they now suggest the Court clearly erred in failing to address. 

Plaintiffs complain that the Court “narrowly construed” their mandamus claim.  See Pls’ 

Rule 59 Mot. at 3.  Plaintiffs neglect to mention, however, that the Court construed their mandamus 

claims exactly as Plaintiffs described them.  As Plaintiffs indicated in their opposition to 

Defendants’ motion to dismiss: 

The writ of mandamus sought by Plaintiffs would simply require Defendants to 
perform their ministerial duty to issue classification guidelines that are consistent 
with the PRA. 

Pls’ MTD Opp. at 35-36.  Several pages later, Plaintiffs reiterated the point: 
 

Since Plaintiffs’ claim for mandamus relief [would] simply require the president to 
issue and maintain guidelines that are consistent with the congressional mandate 
reflected in the PRA, the imposition of mandamus relief in this case would be fully 
consistent with the constitutional separation of powers, not a violation of it.   
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Id. at 39.  Unsurprisingly, the Court relied upon Plaintiffs’ description of their mandamus claim in 

describing what Plaintiffs were asking for.  See MTD Mem. Op. at 13 (“CREW contends that it 

has identified a clear and compelling duty here: the duty to issue (effective) record classification 

guidelines.” (citing Pls’ MTD Opp. at 35-36)). 

Plaintiffs now make the remarkable argument that the Court committed “clear error” in 

understanding their mandamus claim exactly as they described it.  The Court should reject out of 

hand Plaintiffs’ attempt to re-write history.  With the benefit of hindsight, Plaintiffs may wish that 

they had advanced a different mandamus claim, but that regret cannot support relief under Rule 

59.  See GSS Grp. Ltd. v. Nat’l Port Auth., 680 F.3d 805, 812 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (“[A] ‘Rule 59(e) 

motion may not be used to . . . raise arguments or present evidence that could have been raised 

prior to the entry of judgment.’” (quoting Wright & Miller, supra, § 2810.1)).  By definition, it 

was not clear error for the Court to not address an argument that Plaintiffs never made. 7 

                                                 
7 Plaintiffs are wrong to contend that their opposition to Defendants’ motion to dismiss raised 

a mandamus claim alleging that the use of messaging applications violates Defendants’ 
categorization duties.  See Pls’ Rule 59 Mot. at 5.  It is true that Plaintiffs described their PRA 
claims generally as challenging “Defendant’s use of message-deleting apps,” Pls’ MTD Opp. at 
11 (quoted in Pls.’ Rule 59 Mot. at 5), but (as described in the main text) Plaintiffs made clear that 
their mandamus claims dealt only with the failure to issue guidelines.  As for Plaintiffs’ claim that 
the use of these applications violates Defendants’ notice obligations, Plaintiffs concede that they 
“did not focus on this argument in their Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss,” Pls’ Rule 
59 Mot. at 8, which means that it was waived for purposes of Rule 59(e).  See GSS Grp., 680 F.3d 
at 812 (“GSS Group could have made all three of the arguments identified above in its opposition 
to the Port Authority’s motion to dismiss, but elected not to do so. The arguments therefore are 
waived [for purposes of Rule 59(e)].” (citation omitted)); see also, e.g., Iweala v. Operational 
Techs. Servs., Inc., 634 F. Supp. 2d 73, 80 (D.D.C. 2009) (“It is well understood in this Circuit 
that when a plaintiff files an opposition to a motion to dismiss addressing only certain arguments 
raised by the defendant, a court may treat those arguments that the plaintiff failed to address as 
conceded.” (internal quotation marks omitted)). 

Case 1:17-cv-01228-CRC   Document 24   Filed 05/15/18   Page 13 of 20



10 
 

III. Plaintiffs’ New Arguments Fail To Support Mandamus Relief Under Any Standard 
Of Review Because Plaintiffs Do Not Allege That Either Defendant Is Violating A 
Ministerial Duty. 

Even if the Court considered Plaintiffs’ new mandamus requests on a blank slate, that 

would not justify disturbing the Court’s Order or Opinion.  As described above, Plaintiffs assert 

that the Court insufficiently addressed two allegations:  (1) “Defendants’ knowing use of certain 

message applications that prevent them from fulfilling their ministerial duty to categorize the 

records they create as either presidential or personal,” Pls’ Rule 59 Mot. at 4; and (2) “Defendants’ 

failure to provide certain statutorily compelled notifications prior to destroying presidential 

records,” id. at 7.  Neither contention is sufficient. 

The statutory bases for these claims are 44 U.S.C. § 2203(b) and (c), which provide as 

follows: 

(b)  Documentary materials produced or received by the President, the 
President’s staff, or units or individuals in the Executive Office of the 
President the function of which is to advise or assist the President, shall, to 
the extent practicable, be categorized as Presidential records or personal 
records upon their creation or receipt and be filed separately. 

(c)  During the President’s term of office, the President may dispose of those 
Presidential records of such President that no longer have administrative, 
historical, informational, or evidentiary value if—  

(1)  the President obtains the views, in writing, of the Archivist 
concerning the proposed disposal of such Presidential 
records; and 

(2)  the Archivist states that the Archivist does not intend to take 
any action under subsection (e) of this section. 

Plaintiffs contend that the use of messaging applications like Signal and Confide violates 

the categorization requirement of 44 U.S.C. § 2203(a) and the notification requirement of 44 
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U.S.C. § 2203(b).   Yet, Plaintiffs do not actually allege that either Defendant sued here — the 

President or the EOP — has violated a duty imposed on them by either of these provisions.8 

With respect to categorization under 44 U.S.C. § 2203(b), the Court has already explained 

that, while 44 U.S.C. § 2203(b) “might direct that records be classified, it says nothing about who 

must classify these records or how she must go about doing so.”  MTD Mem. Op. at 14.  That 

holding is dispositive of Plaintiffs’ categorization claims, and Plaintiffs make no effort to explain 

why it was wrong.  Just as 44 U.S.C. § 2203(b) cannot support a mandamus claim contending that 

the President must issue classification guidelines, it also cannot support a mandamus claim 

contending that the President must take other categorization steps.  The Court has already held that 

44 U.S.C. § 2203(b) is not the basis of a proper mandamus claim. 

Indeed, Plaintiffs’ claim is particularly weak when it is understood that the only Defendants 

in this case are the President and the Executive Office of the President.  Plaintiffs’ theory seems 

to be that the person deleting a Presidential record violates the PRA by failing to categorize it first.  

See Pls’ Rule 59 Mot. at 2 (describing Plaintiffs’ claim that “Defendants’ knowing use of message 

disappearing applications . . . constitutes a violation of Defendants’ ministerial obligations to 

categorize messages”).  Plaintiffs’ complaint, however, does not allege that the President is using 

Confide, Signal, or other applications that automatically delete messages.  Instead, Plaintiffs allege 

that various White House staff have done so.  See MTD Mem. Op. at 1 (Plaintiffs “allege that 

White House staffers have conducted official business using instant messaging applications that 

automatically delete messages after they are read”); see also, e.g., Compl. ¶¶ 4, 50, 56; Pls’ MTD 

                                                 
8 Defendants have previously explained why the EOP itself is an improper Defendant, both 

because the PRA does not impose obligations upon the EOP and because the EOP is not an agency 
under the APA.  See Defs’ MTD at 25.  Plaintiffs have never challenged the point, and have thereby 
waived any objection to it.  See GSS Grp., 680 F.3d at 812. 
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Opp. at 4-5.  Plaintiffs do not attempt to explain how the President violates ministerial obligations 

under 44 U.S.C. § 2203(b) when someone else deletes a presidential record. 

Plaintiffs’ notification claim under 44 U.S.C. § 2203(c) fares no better.  Even assuming 

that this provision imposes certain ministerial duties upon the President before “the President may 

dispose” of Presidential records, 44 U.S.C. § 2203(c), Plaintiffs are not alleging that the President 

is deleting any records.  It is entirely unclear, therefore, what single, discrete, ministerial act 

Plaintiffs would have the Court order the President to take to satisfy any obligations running to 

him pursuant to 44 U.S.C. § 2203(c). 

To be sure, the PRA does invest the President with some responsibility for ensuring that 

White House staff comply with the PRA.   Consistent with those responsibilities, the White House 

Counsel has issued instructions to all personnel informing them that if they ever generate or receive 

presidential records on a non-official device, they must appropriately preserve them.  See 

Memorandum from White House Counsel to All Personnel, Presidential Records Act Obligations, 

Feb. 22, 2017, https://www.archives.gov/files/foia/Memo%20to%20WH%20Staff%20Re%

20Presidential%20Records%20Act%20(Trump,%2002-22-17)_redacted%20(1).pdf.  Those 

responsibilities, however, arise under 44 U.S.C. § 2203(a), which provides that, “[t]hrough the 

implementation of records management controls and other necessary actions, the President shall 

take all such steps as may be necessary to assure that . . . records are preserved and maintained as 

Presidential records pursuant to the requirements of this section and other provisions of law.”  The 

Court has already held that there can be no mandamus claim against the President under that 

provision because it does not “obligate[] the President to perform any duty with the requisite level 

of specificity that mandamus requires.”  MTD Mem. Op. at 14; see also Def’s MTD at 23-24 
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(explaining why this language is insufficiently specific to give rise to a mandamus claim).  Indeed, 

Plaintiffs do not challenge the point that 44 U.S.C. § 2203(a) cannot be the basis for mandamus.9 

Because there is no allegation that the President is violating ministerial duties imposed 

upon him by the PRA, neither of Plaintiffs’ new mandamus claims would state a claim in any 

procedural posture. 

IV. Even If Plaintiffs Had Valid Mandamus Claims, They Would Be Precluded By The 
Presidential Records Act. 

Finally, even if the Court rejected all of these arguments and concluded that Plaintiffs had 

stated otherwise valid mandamus claims based on the unlawful disposal of Presidential records, 

those claims would be precluded under the D.C. Circuit’s decision in Armstrong I.  As Defendants 

have explained, Plaintiffs’ allegation that Defendants are deleting messages without categorizing 

them or providing notice to the Archivist amounts to a challenge to Defendants’ “recordkeeping 

practices and decisions,” Armstrong I, 924 F.2d at 291, a subject over which the PRA precludes 

review.   See Defs’ MTD at 11-20; Defs’ MTD Reply (ECF No. 19) at 3-10.  The Court 

“entertain[ed] [this] argument but . . . declined[d] to resolve it, finding that dismissal is proper 

regardless because CREW fails to state a valid mandamus claim.”  MTD Mem. Op. at 8. 

Defendants respectfully maintain and incorporate by reference their argument that 

Armstrong I bars all challenges to the management of Presidential records under the PRA (as well 

as Defendants’ other objections to the entry of mandamus relief).  But while the Court did not rule 

on Defendants’ Armstrong I argument, it seriously contemplated the notion that, because the 

preclusion of judicial review articulated in Armstrong I is implied and not express, it might not 

                                                 
9 Another provision of the PRA, 44 U.S.C. § 2209, prohibits White House employees from using 
non-official electronic messaging accounts unless they properly preserve their messages.  Plaintiffs 
have not raised a claim under 44 U.S.C. § 2209, nor have they alleged that any of the Defendants 
sued here is violating it.  In any case, 44 U.S.C. § 2209 contains its own enforcement mechanism, 
indicating that its violation is a potential basis for disciplinary action.  See 44 U.S.C. § 2209(b). 
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apply to claims seeking mandamus.  See, e.g., MTD Mem. Op. at 9.  Should the Court reach the 

issue, it should conclude that Armstrong I equally bars claims seeking mandamus.   

Whether a preclusion of judicial review is express or implied, it cannot arise unless the 

Court finds that Congress intended to preclude judicial review.  See, e.g., Block v. Cmty. Nutrition 

Inst., 467 U.S. 340, 349 (1984) (“The presumption favoring judicial review of administrative 

action . . . may be overcome by specific language or specific legislative history that is a reliable 

indicator of congressional intent.”); Barlow v. Collins, 397 U.S. 159, 165 (1970) (“Whether agency 

action is reviewable often poses difficult questions of congressional intent; and the Court must 

decide if Congress has in express or implied terms precluded judicial review or committed the 

challenged action entirely to administrative discretion.”).  Thus, if the Court were to agree with 

Defendants that Congress did in fact intend to preclude judicial review, there is no basis for treating 

implied preclusion differently from express preclusion. 

Indeed, the structure of CREW v. Cheney, 593 F. Supp. 2d 194 (D.D.C. 2009) — the case 

upon which Plaintiffs have most heavily relied in this litigation — is consistent with the notion 

that mandamus claims are not immune from an Armstrong I preclusion analysis. In that case, the 

court engaged in a two-step analysis:  it first considered whether Plaintiffs’ claims were barred 

under Armstrong I, id. at 212-217, and then only after answering that question, it considered 

whether Plaintiffs had stated a claim for mandamus, see id. at 219-221.  Were valid mandamus 

claims categorically exempt from the preclusion set out in Armstrong I, the first half of the court’s 

analysis would have been unnecessary. 

  Nor does it change the analysis that in certain other contexts, the D.C. Circuit has 

understood mandamus to be available notwithstanding preclusions of judicial review.  For 

example, in Ganem v. Heckler, 746 F.2d 844 (D.C. Cir. 1984), the D.C. Circuit held that a 
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mandamus action may sometimes be brought under the Social Security Act notwithstanding 42 

U.S.C. § 405(h).  Unlike the PRA, the Social Security Act generally contemplates that federal 

courts will be able to review the actions of the Commissioner of Social Security.  Sections 405(g) 

and 405(h) impose an exhaustion requirement; claims must typically be brought pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. § 405(g), which applies when there has been “a final decision of the Secretary after a 

hearing.”  Ganem, 746 F.2d at 849.  Ganem holds that in the rare case where a plaintiff is unable 

to obtain a final decision of the Secretary, as is necessary to proceed under § 405(g), he might 

nonetheless potentially be able to obtain mandamus relief.  That limited holding does not 

undermine Congress’s intent to preclude review under an entire statutory scheme, which is what 

would follow if the Court held that the PRA may be enforced by mandamus even though it may 

not be enforced under the APA.10 

At bottom, this motion is the perfect demonstration of why the PRA’s preclusion of judicial 

review should be understood to include mandamus claims.  The D.C. Circuit held in Armstrong I 

that “[a]llowing judicial review of the President’s general compliance with the PRA at the behest 

of private litigants would substantially upset Congress’ carefully crafted balance of presidential 

control of records creation, management, and disposal during the President’s term of office.”  924 

F.2d at 291.  If the Armstrong I holding is not understood to extend to claims for mandamus, every 

plaintiff whose APA claim would be barred under Armstrong I will arrive at the courthouse doors 

incanting mandamus, demanding the very judicial review of the President’s compliance with the 

                                                 
10 In re al-Nashiri, 791 F.3d 71 (D.C. Cir. 2015), is equally distinguishable.  In that case, there 

was no dispute that the D.C. Circuit would eventually have jurisdiction to review the final 
judgment of the military commission.  See id. at 76.  “Accordingly,” the D.C. Circuit held, “we 
can issue a writ of mandamus now to protect the exercise of our appellate jurisdiction later.”  Id.  
The D.C. Circuit was also concerned about the serious constitutional questions that would arise if 
it lacked the authority to entertain the plaintiffs’ constitutional claims, see id. at 77, but those 
concerns are not present here because Plaintiffs do not advance any constitutional claims.  
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PRA that Armstrong I made clear is not available.  The Court should avoid a holding that would 

so starkly undermine Armstrong I. 

CONCLUSION 

Defendants respectfully request that the Court deny Plaintiffs’ motion. 
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